Received 01/05/2024 05:51 PM

In the District of Columbia Court of Appeals

DCA CAPITOL HILL LTAC, LLC and DCA CAPITOL HILL SNF, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

CAPITOL HILL GROUP

Appellee.

On Appeal from the Superior Court of the District of Columbia, Civil Division Case No. 2015-CA-008166-B (The Honorable John M. Campbell) (The Honorable Juliet J. McKenna)

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

INTRODUCTION

The Appellants—DCA Capitol Hill LTAC, LLC and DCA Capitol Hill SNF, LLC-operate BridgePoint Continuing Care Hospital-Capitol Hill (hereinafter, "the Hospital"). The Hospital is a long-term acute care hospital and skilled nursing facility in Northeast Washington, D.C. The Hospital is a critical part of the healthcare system in the District of Columbia, representing (with its sister facility in Southwest Washington) the city's only long-term acute care hospitals and skilled nursing facilities caring for patients who depend on ventilators to live. The Hospital takes care of seriously ill patients who require around-the-clock, ever-present care for weeks or months after a stay in an acute care hospital, such as George Washington University Hospital. Without the pressure relief valve of the BridgePoint Hospitals, the District's acute care hospitals responsible for emergencies, surgeries, and the short-term care thereafter would be overrun and at significant risk of lacking space to provide quality care.

This case arises from a dispute between the Hospital and its landlord, the Capitol Hill Group (hereinafter, "the Landlord"). The Appellant-companies are the current owners of the Hospital and saved it from closure, purchasing it after it had been horribly mismanaged into bankruptcy in 2014. In those bankruptcy proceedings, the Landlord obtained from the Appellant companies purchasing the hospital a \$4.5 million payment, approved by the Bankruptcy Court, associated with

exiting the bankruptcy. The Landlord's stated basis for that payment relied almost entirely on capital improvements it claimed to be making to the building. Most significantly, the Landlord represented that it was installing a brand new, "state of the art HVAC system"—which stands for heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning system—in the Hospital. It said that the new system was costing the Landlord \$5 million.

Those representations were false when they were made. The system was never going to work to heat and cool the building (and the Landlord knew it). And the Landlord was under a firm contract, when it made the representation, to obtain whatever work was being performed for a fraction of the \$5 million it represented, with no possibility for further costs for the Landlord. The cost representation was a straightforward lie that (successfully and dramatically) increased the amount of the ultimately \$4.5 million payment to remove the case from bankruptcy.

To address the Landlord's failure to deliver the promised HVAC system, the Appellants invested millions to make it work and, to partially address these expenses, withheld \$1,204,029.47 in rent. Litigation followed, and this appeal arises from the Superior Court's resolution of the claims and counterclaims therein.

The Superior Court made three categories of reversible error below. *First*, the Superior Court erred in granting summary judgment against the Appellants' fraud and misrepresentation counterclaims. The Superior Court's reasoning was never

written down, but from the bench the Court asserted that fraud and misrepresentations categorically cannot be based on statements made prior to entering into a contract with an integration clause. That holding is directly contrary to black-letter law established by this Court. Contracts, even those with integration clauses, do not immunize parties against misrepresentations of existing fact. This Court should reverse the Superior Court's judgment—including the trial judgment on other claims that were clearly affected by the erroneous entering of summary judgment—and remand the claims for trial or re-trial in the Superior Court.

Second, the Superior Court waited three-and-a-half years after a five-day bench trial to deliver a trial verdict on the remaining contractual claims in the case. In that decision, the Superior Court made several key errors of contract interpretation subject to *de novo* review in this Court. As an initial matter, the Lease obligated the Landlord to install "a new HVAC" system, which the Lease did not further define. The Superior Court, however, found dispositive a reference to work on the HVAC system in an agreement between two other parties, conceived for an entirely different purpose, that was attached to the Lease. Amidst the purchase of the Hospital from bankruptcy, the Landlord was working with a developer to transform another wing of the building into apartments. The Lease attachment was an agreement allowing that apartment developer to come back and forth into the Hospital to disconnect all sorts of systems common between the two wings. One of the systems mentioned was the common HVAC system, and the Superior Court erroneously assumed that this mention of HVAC system work, in an agreement between other parties about an entirely separate topic, was all the work the Landlord had obligated itself to perform for the Hospital.

Next, the Superior Court erred in interpreting the Lease to hold that the Appellants provided the Landlord insufficient notice of the problems with the HVAC system. The Lease protected the Hospital by giving it 90 days after moving in to reject "the new HVAC system" and to seek funds for making it work. The Hospital provided this notice, but the Superior Court read into the Lease a requirement that the notice also provide a specific bill of particulars of the problems with the HVAC system or else all complaints about the system would be permanently waived. But that requirement appears nowhere in the Lease's text. Far from allegedly insufficient detail "waiving" any Hospital complaints about the HVAC system, the Lease provided the Landlord a period of time to object to the notice's content. The Landlord did not do so.

The Superior Court also erred in interpreting a provision in the Lease requiring the Landlord to cause the hospital building to "be served by the repair and relocation of generators" that the Landlord was required to install. The Landlord failed to do this. Instead of providing functioning "generators," the Landlord replaced one of the three existing generators, which together did not work. The Superior Court's holding that the Landlord fulfilled its obligation by providing the single, defunct generator is contradicted by the plain terms of the Lease.

Third, the Superior Court erred in awarding the Landlord all of its attorneys' fees and costs under a fee-shifting provision in the lease agreement. The Landlord sued not just for the \$1.2 million in withheld rent; it advanced a tortured reading of the Lease and claimed late fees and interest on that withheld rent, in the amount of \$4.484 million at the time of trial and \$62 million at the time of judgment. After initially accepting the Landlord's theory, the Superior Court reconsidered and rejected the vast majority of the Landlord's claimed damages. The Superior Court nonetheless granted the Landlord all of its attorney's fees, and never mentioned the Landlord's failure to obtain the lion's share of its claimed damages. This Court repeatedly has reversed contractual fee awards where the trial court did not address the plaintiff's failure to obtain the majority of the relief sought. This Court should follow those precedents and reverse the fee award in this matter.

ASSERTION OF JURISDICTION

The Appellants appeal from a final judgment of the Superior Court, entered on June 16, 2022, and amended on May 18, 2023, as well as all interlocutory orders that merged into the final judgment, including the Superior Court's summary judgment ruling on the first day of trial. The June 16, 2022, final judgment, as amended, disposed of all of the parties' remaining claims. The Appellants also appeal a judgment of the Superior Court, entered on May 18, 2023, and amended on August 23, 2023, awarding attorneys' fees, expenses, and costs to the Landlord.

This Court consolidated the two appeals on September 27, 2023, and has jurisdiction over the consolidated appeal pursuant to D.C. Code § 11-721(a)(1).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. This Court has held that fraud and misrepresentation claims about representations of current or historical fact to induce entry into a contract survive the later execution of that contract. *Drake v. McNair*, 993 A.2d 607, 624 (D.C. 2010). Did the Superior Court err in granting summary judgment against the Appellants' fraud counterclaims solely because the parties entered into a contract after the representations were made?

II. This appeal asserts that the Superior Court made multiple errors in its trial verdict, on its way to interpreting the Lease not to require the Landlord to have installed a working HVAC system and generators:

A. Did the Superior Court err in interpreting the contractual phrase "new HVAC system" by reference to a different contract between other parties, for a purpose entirely separate from defining the HVAC system the Landlord was obligated to the Hospital to install?

6

B. Did the Superior Court err in interpreting the provision of the Lease that authorized the Hospital to reject the HVAC system, by requiring the Hospital to provide specific details in that notice and by ignoring the contractual term that the Landlord, within 30 days, raise any claimed deficiencies in the notice?

C. Did the Superior Court err in holding that the Landlord satisfied a provision in the Lease requiring the Landlord to provide the Hospital with functioning "generators" even though the Landlord provided only a single, defunct generator that failed to consistently moderate the building's electricity for nearly a year?

D. Did the Superior Court err in its interpretations of the Lease by failing appropriately to recognize the context of the federal-court bankruptcy proceedings from which the Lease arose and by not placing the onus of candor on the Landlord given those proceedings?

III. Did the Superior Court err by failing to reduce the award for claimed attorneys' fees to account for the Superior Court's rejection of the vast majority of the Landlord's claimed damages, as required by this Court's decisions?

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

BridgePoint Hospital-Capitol Hill is a long-term acute care and skilled nursing facility hospital at Seventh and Constitution Avenue in Northeast Washington, D.C. With BridgePoint Healthcare's companion hospital in Southwest

7

Washington, it is one of two long-term acute care hospitals in Washington, D.C. The District of Columbia government has been clear that these facilities are indispensable to a functioning health care system in the District. App. 2664. The Appellant-companies saved these facilities from closure by purchasing them from federal-court administered bankruptcy proceedings. The Appellants are backed by Silver Point Capital, an investment firm that has a history of investing in healthcare institutions, and led by the Hospital's CEO, Marc Ferrell. Together, they have a long track record of turning failing hospitals around and keeping them operating, through the investment of resources and sound management. App. 920-21.

I. The Landlord's Luxury Apartment Project in an Unused Wing of the Hospital Building Requires the Apartment Developer to Disconnect the Building's Systems.

Specialty Hospitals of Washington owned and operated these two hospitals until they entered bankruptcy in 2014. In 2013, the Landlord decided to convert an unoccupied wing of the building housing the Capitol Hill facility into a luxury apartment complex. App. 2561. One obstacle to converting part of the building into apartments was that the whole building shared electrical, plumbing, heating, airconditioning, ventilation, and other systems. App. 2563. To complete the apartment project, the Landlord had to "decouple" the systems. App. 2564. The Landlord and the apartment developer signed an easement agreement—formally called the Declaration of Temporary Easements and Agreements—that allowed the apartment developer's workers and contractors to move about both wings of the building. App. 2565.

II. The Appellants Rescue the Hospital from Bankruptcy, and the Landlord Extracts a \$4.5 Million Bankruptcy Exit Payment for a New, "State of the Art" HVAC System Costing the Landlord \$5 Million.

In 2014, Specialty Hospitals was forced into bankruptcy. It was in dire financial condition. App. 2561. It long had not paid even its most basic obligations, even to the point of withholding taxes from its employees' paychecks but not remitting them to the Government. The Appellant-companies were the only party willing to buy the hospitals from bankruptcy and keep them running. App. 506. Absent the Appellants' willingness to intervene and try to turn these facilities around, they would have closed. App. 506.

To save the hospitals from bankruptcy, the Appellants had to solve enormous problems the hospitals had with Medicare, Medicaid, the taxing authorities, and other creditors, which were tens of millions of dollars in magnitude. App. 921-22. The landlord of the Northeast Washington location presented another challenge. It was requiring a multi-million-dollar cash payment to permit the hospitals to emerge from bankruptcy with continued tenancy of the hospital building. By far, the Landlord's biggest demand was for the Appellants to cover the Landlord's costs to install a brand new, "state-of-the-art HVAC system" in the Hospital. App. 936. The Landlord represented that the new HVAC system for the hospital was costing it more than \$5 million, but that it was willing to share the expense with the hospital purchasers and accept \$4 million for it. App. 944-45. It detailed this cost on several written spreadsheets shared with the hospital purchasers. App. 1707-08; App. 1709-10. The Landlord also repeatedly represented, orally and in writing, that the HVAC system was "state of the art." App. 944-45; App. 1714. The Landlord said it would be unfair for the purchasers to saddle the Landlord with this \$5 million expense and not reimburse the Landlord for it. App. 944-45, 1022-23.

Before the Landlord made these representations, the Landlord had entered into a firm, fully executed agreement with the apartment developer to complete all work decoupling electrical, plumbing, HVAC, and other systems common between the apartment and hospital wings, which required purchasing some additional equipment, for \$2.7 million in rent reductions spread over many years. App. 288-90; App. 551; App. 1182-83. That work went well beyond separating the common HVAC system—it included, among other things, disentangling the electrical, plumbing, and fire alarm systems, and inserting a fire separation wall between the two parcels. App. 1180-86. At trial, the apartment developer's testimony was clear and undisputed: If the work separating the buildings cost the developer more than \$2.7 million, the developer had no recourse of any kind against the Landlord—the developer would have to cover the excess cost. App. 1189. The Landlord did not simply forget about what the HVAC work was actually costing the Landlord; it closely tracked it. The Landlord required the developer to deposit money into an escrow account and make requests for releases upon completion of work. App. 596-97. The final draw request submitted by the apartment developer on the escrow account reflects that the developer spent just \$1,020,408 in total on the HVAC work. App. 1711-13. The apartment developer testified that he never understood the HVAC work he was doing as the installation of a "new HVAC system"; rather, he understood it as the replacement of a handful of parts as necessary to pull the buildings apart. App. 1186-87. The Landlord did no other work on the Hospital's HVAC system, other than that performed by the apartment developer.

At no time did the Landlord disclose this binding deal with the apartment developer firmly capping the Landlord's costs at a fraction of the \$5 million it represented them to be. *See* App. 934-50, 1015-25. Nor did the Landlord disclose that, after the installation of the represented "state of the art" heating, ventilation, and air-conditioning system, the system would not work to heat or cool the building without millions more in additional investment. *See* App. 934-50, 1015-25.

III. The Appellants Take Possession of the Hospital, Provide Notice of Objections to the HVAC Work and Generator Work, and Withhold Rent Pursuant to the Lease.

The bankruptcy sale closed, the new owners took over hospital operations in December 2014, and the Hospital entered into a lease agreement with the Landlord. *See Amended & Restated Lease Agreement* (Dec. 16, 2014) (the "Lease"), App. 1771-1812. The Lease addressed the promised HVAC work, obligating the Landlord to have installed "a new HVAC system" in the Hospital. App. 1788. As the Landlord's work on the HVAC system was not scheduled to be completed until days before the close of the sale, the Lease protected the Hospital by giving it 90 days to evaluate the HVAC system, and to then accept or reject it. App. 1788. In the event the Hospital rejected the system, the Lease authorized the Hospital to withhold rent to fund making the system work. App. 1788. The Lease also obligated the Landlord to install back-up electrical generators for the Hospital and gave the Hospital similar remedies for the Landlord's failure to do so. App. 1788.

In the first months the Appellants operated the Hospital during the winter, the HVAC system could not adequately heat the building. The Appellants suspected that when summer came, the system would fail at cooling the building as well. App. 1036, 1769. The Appellants immediately evaluated the feasibility of testing the system's ability to cool the Hospital. The facilities manager, long experienced in cooling systems, testified that the heat for the whole Hospital would have to be shut

down. Hot water would have to be drained from the system and replaced with chilled water. Doing so would risk freezing and breaking the coils in the chillers and damaging the system. The only way safely to test the cooling ability of the system, without damaging it and affecting patient safety, was to wait until the temperatures warmed. App. 1038, 1231-32.

The generators also failed. This is not a small problem for the Hospital, as critical life-sustaining equipment like ventilators must keep going during a power outage. The Landlord represented that it spent \$66,100 for the repair and relocation of generators, and the Appellants reimbursed it for that amount. App. 1080. But the Landlord only provided one generator, even though the Lease refers to generators (plural), and the Hospital requires three generators. App. 728-30. Even the one used generator, however, was not operational during most of 2015. App. 1394. The Hospital was forced to rent a backup generator to protect its patients. App. 1084, 1199.

Within the 90 days provided by the Lease for doing so, the Appellants provided the Landlord notice that they were "unable to accept" the Landlord's work on the HVAC system and generators. App. 2562 (citing PX-01); App. 2573-74 (citing DX-56). While Section 8.4 of the Lease provided the Landlord with 30 days to provide written notice that it disputed the content or accuracy of the notice of non-acceptance, the Landlord did not do so. App. 1788; App. 1039. The Hospital

ultimately withheld a total of \$1,204,029.47 in payments due the Landlord to address several issues with the building. App. 2593. But for \$19,000 of the withheld rent (used to address other capital projects the Hospital believed the Landlord failed to complete), rent was withheld to address shortcomings with the HVAC system and generators. App. 411.

IV. The Landlord Sues to Recover Withheld Payments, and the Hospital Removes the Case to Bankruptcy Court.

The Landlord filed this lawsuit in October 2015 to recover the payments withheld by the Appellants. App. 23-223. The Hospital removed the case to Bankruptcy Court, given the close integration of the agreement to install the HVAC system with the bankruptcy exit payments ordered by the Bankruptcy Court. App. 224-26; *see also* App. 1701-06. In the Bankruptcy Court, the Hospital counterclaimed, among other things, for breach of the Lease and for misrepresentation and fraud. App. 293-333. After discovery, the Bankruptcy Court found an absence of bankruptcy jurisdiction and remanded the case to the Superior Court.

V. On Remand from the Bankruptcy Court, the Superior Court Grants Summary Judgment Against the Hospital's Fraud Counterclaims and Holds a Five-Day Trial on the Remaining Contractual Claims.

The Superior Court did not permit the Hospital's fraud and misrepresentation claims to go to trial, entering summary judgment against them. The Superior Court's

reasoning for the summary judgment was never written down. In a pretrial conference, the Superior Court forecasted a forthcoming opinion on summary judgment, explaining that "the integration clauses in the contract . . . take care of and eliminate any arguments about fraud in the inducement." App. 373.

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