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

Mr. Ferrell's March 15 email gave notice to CHG of issues with only one of the hospital's three generators—Generator #5. App. 1770 (notifying CHG that "the generator is still not functioning" and has "mechanical issues"). The Superior Court correctly found that CHG took commercially reasonable steps to repair Generator #5 and thus satisfied its obligation under Section 8.4. App. 2585-86, 2576. DCA

does not challenge that ruling on appeal. Instead, DCA contends that CHG was required to repair the two *other* generators (#3 and #4), which malfunctioned *later* in 2015. This untimely argument, regarding CHG's supposed responsibility for the *other* two generators, was raised for the first time during trial.⁸

The Superior Court correctly determined that these two other generators were DCA's responsibility. App. 2576. There is no clear error in this finding. DCA's Mr. Ferrell stated as much in an email in summer 2015. App. 2367, 1146.

Even if the other two generators *were* CHG's responsibility (and they weren't), this Court should still affirm because the Superior Court correctly found that Mr. Ferrell's March 15 email only gave notice to CHG regarding issues with Generator #5. App. 2585-86, 2575. DCA's failure to give timely notice within the Lease's 90-day period waived DCA's right to claim that these two other generators were defective. *See Williams*, 675 A.2d at 55-56.

In any event, DCA's only claimed damages—the cost of a backup generator—is neither compensable under the Lease nor a permissible basis for withholding rent.

The Superior Court correctly held that CHG cannot be liable for this cost because Section 14.1 bars DCA from recovering "indirect or consequential" damages. App.

32

⁸ That claim appears nowhere in DCA's counterclaims (which reference "the generator" and "a generator"), App. 313-31, and CHG objected to trial on this undisclosed claim, App. 443. The Superior Court noted the untimeliness. App. 2576-77 & n.7.

2586. Consequential damages are those that "do not flow directly and immediately from the breach, but only from some of the consequences or results of the breach." 24 Williston on Contracts § 64:16 (4th ed.).

Section 8.4 contains no exception to Section 14.1 that would authorize rent withholding for the backup generator. Rather, Section 8.4 only authorizes DCA to withhold rent for costs that DCA "incur[red]" to "correct" the "matters" that DCA identifies in its 90-day notice. App. 1788 (Section 8.4). The Superior Court correctly found that DCA did not present any evidence that it "incurred" any costs to "correct" any of the three generators. App. 2577, 2586.

E. The Superior Court Appropriately Addressed the Context of the Prior Tenant's Bankruptcy Proceedings

DCA's final contract-based argument is that the Superior Court somehow erred by "failing appropriately to address the Lease's [bankruptcy] context." Br. at 41-44. This section of DCA's brief cites no relevant authority and identifies no legal error. DCA's failure to explain this argument amounts to waiver. *Wendemu v. Tesema*, 304 A.3d 953, 959 & n.3 (D.C. 2023) (party waived argument "by not articulating a clear legal basis for her challenge" and failing to "include any citations to the record or law"). Even if not waived, the argument is meritless. The Opinion is replete with findings about the SHW bankruptcy and the Lease's context. *See* App. 2561-62, 2566-68, 2585, 2591-92.

III. The Superior Court Correctly Entered Judgment in CHG's Favor on DCA's Fraud Counterclaim

A. Legal Standard and Standard of Review

To show that DCA was defrauded by CHG regarding the "new HVAC system," DCA bears the "very high" burden to prove fraud by "clear and convincing evidence." Wash. Inv. Partners of Del., LLC v. Sec. House, K.S.C.C., 28 A.3d 566, 575-76 (D.C. 2011) (cleaned up). Because this is a "case[] involving [a] commercial contract negotiated at arm's length," DCA must satisfy the "further requirement" that its reliance on the alleged misrepresentations was "reasonable," in addition to proving the traditional common law elements of fraud. Hercules & Co. v. Shama Rest. Corp., 613 A.2d 916, 923 (D.C. 1992) ("At common law, the requisite elements of fraud were (1) a false representation (2) made in reference to a material fact, (3) with knowledge of its falsity, (4) with the intent to deceive, and (5) an action that is taken in reliance upon the representation.").

This Court has "time and again imposed a very high standard on sophisticated business entities claiming fraudulent inducement in arms-length transactions," holding that "[i]t is fundamental that in a business transaction between two sophisticated entities involving substantial sums, as was this transaction, parties are bound by what they sign." *Wash. Inv. Partners*, 28 A.3d at 575-76 (affirming grant of summary judgment against fraud claim) (citing *Hercules*, 613 A.2d at 931-33) (cleaned up).

In reviewing the Superior Court's factual findings on this counterclaim, this Court "view[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the prevailing party." *Govan*, 289 A.3d at 690 (cleaned up). The Superior Court's factual findings are treated as "presumptively correct," and can only be overturned for clear error. *Lawlor*, 758 A.2d at 974 (cleaned up). Legal conclusions are reviewed *de novo*. *Id*.

- B. The Superior Court Correctly Determined that DCA Had "Actual Notice" of the New HVAC System and that DCA's Reliance On Any Alleged Misrepresentations Was "Objectively Unreasonable"
 - 1. The Superior Court's Extensive Factual Findings Are Amply Supported by the Record

The Superior Court correctly denied DCA's fraud counterclaim in its final judgment. App. 2557 ¶ 6 (Final Judgment); App. 2590-91 (Opinion). The Superior Court found there was "overwhelming" evidence that DCA's "representatives had actual notice of the scope of the new HVAC project" and that DCA's due diligence opportunities made any reliance on CHG's alleged misrepresentations "objectively unreasonable." App. 2590-91.

The thrust of DCA's fraud argument is that Silver Point was defrauded into signing the Term Sheet on May 22, 2014. This point in time—May 2014—is what DCA now calls "the point of no return" because afterward, it claims, Silver Point was committed to funding SHW's hospital operations and serving as the "stalking horse" bidder in SHW's bankruptcy. Br. at 42. DCA contends that if not for CHG's alleged fraud in April and May, Silver Point would not have signed the Term Sheet

or committed the funding. *Id.* Key to this entire (meritless) argument is DCA's factual claim that it never had sufficient opportunity to discover the state of the hospital's HVAC distribution equipment until *after* it signed the Term Sheet. *Id.*

That factual contention—that DCA was unable to conduct due diligence into the scope and cost of the "new HVAC system" project before signing the Term Sheet—is conclusively refuted by the Superior Court's factual findings: "Silver Point had ample opportunity, and every incentive, to conduct an independent investigation into the scope and cost of the HVAC system project . . . for two months prior to signing the Term Sheet No one impeded [its] due diligence opportunities." App. 2590-91 (also finding that "CHG did not have exclusive access to this information"). Those findings are amply supported by the record.

Before signing the Term Sheet, Silver Point discussed the HVAC project with CHG's CEO Dr. Shin in April 2014 and learned that the existing distribution components would not be replaced; Mr. Banks reviewed the SHW lease and all amendments (including Rider A to the Sixth Amendment, describing the HVAC work); an internal Silver Point email on April 9, 2014 described the project as a "move" of certain components from the Apartment Parcel to the Hospital Parcel; and Silver Point toured the hospital and received photographs of and written updates on the project. Supra, at pages 8-10. Again, all of this happened before the Term Sheet was signed. App. 2567-69 (Opinion).

These factual findings thoroughly refute DCA's claim to have somehow been defrauded in connection with signing the Term Sheet. DCA's opportunity to conduct due diligence into the scope and cost of the HVAC project is, in and of itself, enough to show that reliance on CHG's statements wasn't objectively reasonable. See Drake, 993 A.2d at 620-21, 624-25 (affirming dismissal at pleading stage on this ground); Wash. Inv. Partners, 28 A.3d at 576 (affirming grant of summary judgment against fraud claim in part on this ground). And DCA didn't just have the opportunity to conduct due diligence, DCA actually did conduct it—again, even prior to signing the Term Sheet—and obtained a wealth of information that clearly showed the limited scope of the HVAC project that was well underway in April 2014. Supra, at pages 8-10. As for the alleged cost misrepresentations—which CHG denies and which are refuted by the contemporaneous written evidence—Mr. Banks admitted that Silver Point never asked for the basis for the HVAC estimate, or for any documentation of the "final cost of HVAC installation." App. 985-86 (Banks testimony), 610-12 (Ted Shin testimony that Silver Point never asked about CHG's "out-of-pocket" HVAC costs).

2. The Superior Court Correctly Ruled that the Lease's Integration Clauses Barred DCA's Fraud Counterclaim

Even if this Court were to disregard the Superior Court's numerous factual findings, this Court should still affirm based on the Lease's integration clauses and the sophistication of the parties. App. 373, 2590-91 (Opinion).

A "complete integration clause in [a] contract ma[kes] reliance on statement[s] outside of [the] contract legally irrelevant" in a fraud claim. *Sibley v. St. Albans Sch.*, 134 A.3d 789, 811 & n.17 (D.C. 2016) (describing *Hercules*, 613 A.2d at 927-29). Generally, this rule is strictly applied "at least in the context of commercial dealings at arm's length." *Hercules*, 613 A.2d at 929-35 (reliance on prior representation not included in fully integrated contract could not be "reasonable"); *see Wash. Inv. Partners*, 28 A.3d at 575-76 (same).

DCA relies on *Drake v. McNair* to argue that there is no "blanket exemption to claims of fraud in the inducement" for "prior representations that conceal fraudulent conduct." Br. at 26 (quoting *Drake*, 993 A.2d at 624). But *Drake* supports CHG, not DCA. *Drake* held that an integration clause *does* bar a fraudulent inducement claim that is based on "prior representations that a party will or will not do something *in the future*." *Drake*, 993 A.2d at 623-24 (emphasis added). That was precisely what DCA pleaded in its counterclaim and presented at trial. App. 325 (pleading), 986 (Banks testimony). DCA claimed that it was fraudulently induced by CHG's alleged pre-Lease statements about what CHG would do *in the future*, namely, install a "new HVAC system" costing \$5 million. DCA's Opening Brief

also contends that it was misled about the *future* efficacy and cost of the "new HVAC system." Br. at 2, 25, 29-30, 42.9

The only exception *Drake* recognized, to the general rule that an integration clause will bar a later fraudulent inducement claim, was for a claim based on the defendant's fraudulent acts of "conceal[ing]" and "shielding information." *Drake*, 993 A.2d at 623-24. That is not this case—though DCA now tries to characterize it that way. Br. at 29-30. DCA cannot demonstrate that anything was "concealed" about the HVAC project's scope, since that was clearly *disclosed* in Rider A of the CHG-SHW Lease, which Mr. Banks read before signing the term sheet. *Supra*, at page 9. As for the alleged misrepresentation about CHG's out-of-pocket *cost* of the HVAC project, ¹⁰ DCA cannot demonstrate any "affirmative conduct" by CHG to "prevent discovery." *Drake*, 993 A.2d at 620-21. DCA has never alleged (or offered

⁹ DCA also takes issue with the description of the "new HVAC system" as "state of the art." Br. at 2, 9-11, 25, 30, 42; App. 1022-23 (Ferrell testimony that this reference was made in emails); *see* App. 1714 (DX-4) (email). But DCA offered no evidence that the "brand new," "modern" equipment that was actually installed was not "state of the art" and has never claimed that any of those components (boilers, chillers, pumps) are defective. *Supra*, at page 13. In any event, the term "state of the art" is "mere puffery" with respect to the *quality* of this new equipment. *See Pearson v. Chung*, 961 A.2d 1067, 1076 (D.C. 2008).

¹⁰ DCA claims that CHG represented that it would ultimately pay \$5 million out-of-pocket for the HVAC work, and that this was fraud because CHG's costs were fixed through an agreement with the apartment developer (who did the work). Br. at 10. CHG disputed (and refuted) this allegation at trial. App. 587 (Dr. Shin testimony), 612 (Ted Shin testimony).

DCA from investigating the scope or cost of the HVAC work. To the contrary, the evidence of Silver Point's due diligence and the parties' pre-Term Sheet conduct was fully aired at trial. In light of that evidence, the Superior Court made findings about DCA's unimpeded diligence opportunities—findings that, again, are subject only to clear error review. *Supra*, at pages 8-13.

DCA's attempt to invoke *Drake*'s "concealment" exception also fails for another reason: a defendant's alleged "failure to disclose information that has not even been requested" cannot constitute "fraudulent concealment" as a matter of law. *Id.* at 620-21 (affirming dismissal on this basis). That is yet another reason for this Court to affirm, since DCA's representatives never asked CHG about the scope of the HVAC work, or about the basis for CHG's \$4 million, round-number cost estimate, or for documentation of CHG's out-of-pocket spend. *See* App. 1104 (Ferrell testimony), 985-86 (Banks testimony that Silver Point never asked for a "final cost of HVAC installation"), 610-13 (Ted Shin testimony that Silver Point never asked about CHG's "out-of-pocket" HVAC cost); *see also* App. 854-55.

Aside from *Drake*, DCA also relies on two federal district court pleading-stage decisions. Br. at 27-28. Neither of them supports DCA's arguments. *Jacobson v. Hofgard* is another *concealment* case regarding then-existing facts, and the pleadings raised questions about "the parties' relative bargaining power and

sophistication." 168 F. Supp. 3d 187, 204-05 (D.D.C. 2016). That is not this case. As for *Schwab v. MissionSide*, *LLC*, the contract at issue was nothing like the Lease here. The *Schwab* contract's integration clause was weakened by an express representation by the defendant that prior "representations . . . were true and complete." 2021 WL 5138445, at *8 (D.D.C. Nov. 4, 2021). The Lease, by contrast, rents the building in its "AS-IS, WHERE-IS, WITH ALL FAULTS" condition and "without representation or warranty of any kind" about the HVAC system. App. 1787 (Section 8.1) (emphasis added).

Finally, DCA relies on several non-D.C. cases that (it claims) give less deference to integration clauses. Br. at 28-29. But DCA offers no reason to depart from this Court's precedent. *See KS Condo, LLC v. Fairfax Village Condo. VII*, 302 A.3d 503, 507-08 (D.C. 2023).

C. This Court Should Review the Superior Court's *Final* Judgment, Not the Pre-Trial *Summary* Judgment

DCA's brief asserts—without citation to any authority—that this Court's review is limited to the Superior Court's pre-trial *summary* judgment ruling and not the Superior Court's *final* judgment. Br. at 31. The law is exactly the opposite. This Court's jurisdiction is limited to reviewing the Superior Court's "final order[] and judgment[]." D.C. Code § 11-721(a). That final order and judgment were based not only on the legal conclusion that the Lease's integration clauses and the sophistication of the parties barred DCA's fraud claim (the basis for the court's pre-

trial grant of summary judgment) but also on the numerous *factual* findings described above. App. 2590 (Opinion) (evidence was "overwhelming" that DCA had "actual notice" of the scope of the HVAC system project and that DCA's "reliance on alleged misrepresentations was objectively unreasonable"). It was entirely appropriate for the Superior Court to include those additional factual findings in its final order and judgment for review by this Court.

DCA also contends—again citing no authority—that the Superior Court's pretrial summary judgment ruling somehow "barred" the Superior Court from later making additional factual findings or legal conclusions, in its final order and judgment, relating to its denial of DCA's fraud counterclaim. Br. at 31 & n.2. This argument is waived because DCA failed to make it below. 11 Hollins v. Fed. Nat. Mortg. Ass'n, 760 A.2d 563, 572 (D.C. 2000).

A finding of waiver is particularly appropriate here because DCA itself *asked* the Superior Court to hear DCA's evidence relating to the supposed fraud. *Id.* ("[A] litigant may not take one position at trial and a contradictory position on appeal." (cleaned up)). The Superior Court granted summary judgment against DCA's fraud

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